FULED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION 11

2013 AUG 30 77711: 55 No. 44177-2-11 STATE OF WASHINGTON IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO DEPUTY

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN HESSELGRAVE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Ronald Culpepper, Judge

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK WSBA No. 23879 Counsel for Appellant

RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE Post Office Box 31017 Seattle, Washington 98103 (206) 782-3353

, a 1

Ŧ

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Appellant Steven Hesselgrave was deprived of his state and federal due process rights to present a defense.
- 2. Hesselgrave's state and federal rights to meaningful confrontation were violated.
- 3. Hesselgrave was deprived of his Sixth Amendment and Article I, § 22 rights to effective assistance of appointed counsel.
- 4. Reversal and dismissal is required because the trial court abused its discretion in admitting child hearsay when there was insufficient showing that the child was competent and there was no corroborating evidence to support the conviction.

Hesselgrave assigns error to the trial court's "Order Finding Child Victim Hearsay Admissible at Trial" in its entirety. He also assigns error to the specific findings that "S.L. had no apparent motive to lie," that the statements were "generally consistent" even though made at different times and places with different degrees of detail, and that there was "nothing about the timing of S.L's statements or her relationship to persons she spoke to that suggest an improper motive" and no "reason to believe S.L. misrepresented the defendant's involvement." CP 248-51.

- 5. The prosecutor committed serious, prejudicial misconduct and there is more than a reasonable probability that misconduct had an impact on the verdict.
- 6. The sentencing court exceeded its statutory authority and violated Hesselgrave's rights in imposing improper conditions of community placement. Hesselgrave assigns error to the following conditions contained in the judgment and sentence, Appendix H:
 - 13. You shall not possess or consume any controlled substances without a valid prescription from a licensed physician.
 - 16. ... Do not have any contact with physically or mentally vulnerable individuals.

. . . .

25. Do not possess or peruse any sexually explicit materials in any medium. Your sexual deviancy treatment provider will define sexually explicit material. Do not patronize prostitutes or establishments that promote the commercialization of sex. Also, do not possess or use any cell phone that may provide access to the Internet as well.

CP 238-41 (emphasis added).

. . .

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion and were Hesselgrave's rights to confront and cross-examine witnesses and to present a defense violated when the trial court excluded evidence which would have impeached the victim whose word was the sole evidence against appellant?

> Further, is reversal required because the prosecution cannot meet the heavy burden of proving that the constitutional errors were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as those errors had a direct impact on the only issue in the case - the credibility of the victim's claims?

- 2. In the alternative, was trial counsel prejudicially ineffective in failing to properly impeach the victim, thus depriving Hesselgrave of his rights to confront and cross-examine witnesses and to present a defense?
- 3. Were Hesselgrave's rights to meaningful confrontation and to present a defense further violated when the trial court prevented questioning and evidence directly relevant to whether the witness and the victim had a motive to lie?
- 4. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in finding a child competent and admitting hearsay statements from the child where the child's competence was not properly determined and there was insufficient corroborating evidence to support admission of the hearsay?
- 5. Did the prosecutor commit serious, prejudicial misconduct in repeatedly arguing that the jury only had three choices that the child victim was lying on her own, was being coached to lie or was telling the truth? Further, is there more than a reasonable probability that the misconduct affected the verdict where the only evidence against the

defendant was the word of the child?

6. The Legislature authorized a sentencing court to impose a condition of community custody prohibiting consuming or possessing controlled substances without a valid prescription, but did not limit the medical personnel from whom such a prescription must be issued.

Did the sentencing court err and was the condition limiting Hesselgrave to prescriptions from "a licensed physician" unauthorized where it is lawful in this state for many other types of medical personnel to issue prescriptions and the Legislature has not chosen to impose such a limitation?

- 7. Was the condition prohibiting contact with "physically or mentally vulnerable individuals" improper as not crime-related?
- 8. Did a condition fail to satisfy due process requirements by ordering Hesselgrave not to patronize "establishments that promote the commercialization of sex" but failing to give any notice of which establishments might meet that definition and failing to define the term so as to allow for arbitrary enforcement?
- 9. Where there is no evidence that the defendant ever accessed the internet by cellular phone during the incident, is a condition prohibiting use or possession of any phone capable of such access a crime-related prohibition?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. <u>Procedural Facts</u>

Appellant Steven Hesselgrave was charged by amended

information with first-degree rape of a child, alleged to be a "domestic

violence" incident. CP 46; RCW 9A.44.073; RCW 10.99.020.

Pretrial, child hearsay and competency and trial proceedings were held

before the Honorably Judge Ronald Culpepper on July 15, September 30,

October 21, December 15-16, 20, and 23, 2011, April 20, June 4, 15, 25,

August 9, 13, 21-23, and September, 10-13 and 17-21, 2012. On

September 21, a jury found Hesselgrave guilty as charged. CP 220-24.

Judge Culpepper imposed a standard-range indeterminate sentence on November 9, 2012. CP 225-41. Hesselgrave appealed and this pleading follows. <u>See</u> CP 264-85.

2. <u>Testimony at trial</u>

In the autumn of 2010, when S.L. was about eight and a half years old, she and her mom, Leona Ling, were living at a motel where a man named Kelvin Palfrey also lived. 4RP 322, 616. According to S.L., Palfrey would take care of her when S.L.'s mom "couldn't make if back from school." 4RP 322. A counselor who later treated S.L. said that S.L.'s mom had left S.L. with a babysitter and Palfrey was the sitter's boyfriend. 4RP 616.

Palfrey, who was a registered sex offender, was arrested alone in the motel room with S.L. in October of 2010. S.L. said she was scared when police showed up because she thought that meant that she was in trouble and they were there to arrest her. 4RP 624.

By the time of trial in this case, S.L. was saying that Palfrey had touched her on her "vagina and butt" and that he also made her watch other people having sex on TV in the hotel room. 4RP 323, 342. The 10year old described it as watching a man"put his penis in the woman's vagina." 4RP 342. S.L. said she saw a "few more" movies of people having sex, but could not remember what the other ones were about. 4RP 343.

S.L. did not remember ever saying that, although Palfrey was naked and wanted her to touch him, she had not actually done so. 4RP 343. When asked if he actually tried to put his penis into her vagina, she said, "I do not know," and she did not remember ever telling anyone he had. 4RP 343. She also did not remember telling anyone that Palfrey had laid on top of her and tried to put his penis in. 4RP 344. She did recall saying that Palfrey had pulled down his pants, pulled down her pants and "rubbed himself" against her. 4RP 344. She also remembered telling people he had said, "I will show you my penis if you show me your vagina." 4RP 344.

Among the other things she could not remember, S.L. did not remember telling her mom that Palfrey "was doing that stuff for three days" before his arrest. 4RP 344.

During the investigation of the Palfrey incident, S.L. went through interviews, forensic and otherwise, and began counseling with Anna Watson, a mental health therapist. 4RP 323, 605-609, 615-18. Watson, who started seeing Ling in November of 2010 and and S.L. starting in December of 2010, described S.L.'s disclosures of Palfrey as starting with a "pretty minimal disclosure" which, over time, ended up with "quite a bit more." 4RP 615, 624.

Initially, Watson said, S.L. told the therapist that Palfrey had showed her pornography. 4RP 629. Ultimately, S.L. also said Palfrey had engaged in full sexual intercourse with her. 4RP 631.

Watson testified that, while the focus was "on the specific trauma," Watson also did a "little safety check" at the beginning of treatment to try to determine who are the people that are "safe" or "not safe" in the child's life. 4RP 619, 630. She did that "safety check," Watson said, "in case there is another person in their life that's abusing them." 4RP 619.

5

When Watson did the "safety check" with S.L., S.L. never said anything about anyone else abusing her at all. 4RP 619-30. During therapy, when asked about the individual family members, friends, teachers and others in her life and whether they gave her "touches that are safe or not safe," S.L. identified only Palfrey as having touched her improperly. 4RP 620.

Watson described the "trauma narrative" she used for the counseling, which included having S.L. "write the story of what happened." 4RP 644. Watson then would talk to her about what she shared and "validate[] her feelings." 4RP 645. Watson admitted that she was not concerned with whether a child was telling the truth or not. 4RP 626. Instead, Watson said, her role was "just to respond to what the individual patient says" and support the patient's feelings. 4RP 626, 628-45. Watson also gave kids positive reinforcement when they gave more detail. 4RP 640.

Watson's last session with S.L. was on March 25, 2011. 4RP 615. By the end of the 11 counseling sessions, Watson said, S.L. was "sufficiently healthy to terminate counseling." 4RP 633. Indeed, Watson noted, S.L. was no longer having trouble sleeping, was not having nightmares and was not suffering from high anxiety anymore. 4RP 633. S.L.'s school behavioral problems had also improved. 4RP 635.

At the end of her treatment of a child, Watson said, she did a section called "enhancing future safety" in which they talked about who a kid should talk to if there were future issues, if they had learned that they would be believed and helped if they "told," and helping to make sure the child would feel "good" about telling in the future. 4RP 623. She said that the protocol she used included an element that would "affect a child's willingness" to disclose abuse in the future if they were ever "in an uncomfortable situation." 4RP 623.

Not once during any of the interviews or counseling sessions for Palfrey's sexual abuse of her did S.L. mention anything about her stepdad, Steven Hesselgrave, having done anything improper to her, too. 4RP 323, 633. Several months later, however, on the bus on the way to the Boys and Girls Club after school, however, S.L. said either that her stepdad had said "to try his penis because it tasted like mint" or "to taste her dad's private because it tastes like mint, or something." 4RP 496-97, 507. One of the kids on the bus, who was 11 years old by the time of trial, said that, when S.L. was getting off the bus, she also said to someone, "he also said it tasted like chocolate chip cookies." 4RP 498.

One of the kids on the bus repeated this claim to someone at the Boys and Girls Club who then contacted a school counselor. 4RP 455, 483, 486, 500. Another kid, who was 8 at the time of trial, told her "kind of stepmom" about it and "accidentally" told the principal of the school they all attended, too. 4RP 509-10. The "kind of stepmom" said that the 8 year-old had made it sound like S.L. had not said that her stepdad had said his penis tasted like mint but instead that S.L. had herself said it had that taste. 4RP 526-27.

The school counselor called state Child Protective Services (CPS) and reported the allegation. 4RP 455, 483. S.L. was questioned in mid-May of 2011 by Christine Murillo, a CPS social worker. 4RP 452-53. Murillo did a "safety interview" of S.L., asking questions to determine if S.L. was still having contact with the alleged abuser and decide if a forensic interview was "warranted or not." 4RP 455-57. In that interview, Murillo said, S.L. disclosed sexual abuse. 4RP 457.

Murillo also said that S.L.'s "emotional state" when reporting the abuse was that she was "at ease," and "talkative." 4RP 452.

Murillo spoke with the detective assigned to the case, Jennifer Quilio, and a forensic interview was scheduled by Cornelia Thomas on May 25, 2011. 4RP 464, 466, 547, 552.

Thomas testified about doing that interview and having the goal as investigating, not obtaining a disclosure. 4RP 662-63, 666. She said S.L. was able to tell the difference between a truth and a lie and her demeanor during the interview was "fine" and "lively." 4RP 678.

When asked if she knew why she was there, S.L. said it was because she was raped by Palfrey. 4RP 678. At that point, Thomas said she was not there to talk about that but wanted to know about anyone else it had happened with, and S.L. identified Hesselgrave and made disclosures. 4RP 678-80. They included watching a video involving a naked girl and an elephant online. <u>See</u> Ex 1. With Thomas, S.L. denied saying anything about abuse to anyone else, like her friends at school. Ex 1.

In the interview, S.L. indicated that Hesselgrave's penis was about the length of her forearm, nearly a foot long. 4RP 72.

S.L., who was ten years old at the time of trial, testified that, when she was six years old and living in the same house as him, her thenstepfather, Steven Hesselgrave, made her have sex with him once. 4RP 308-308, 312. S.L. said it occurred when she was sleeping on a bed which was behind the bedroom door in Hesselgrave's room. 4RP 311-12, 321. The bed was where Hesselgrave's dad usually slept but S.L. said she also usually slept there, while her two younger brothers slept on the floor in the living room. 4RP 311-12.

Initially, S.L. testified that Hesselgrave's dad would sleep in the same bed as her "[m]ost of the time." 4RP 312. Later in trial, however, she said that she did not sleep in the same bed as "Big Jack," because he was often gone at night. 4RP 350. She was then asked, "did you ever sleep with him in the same bed," and S.L.'s answer at that point had become, "[n]o." 4RP 350.

-

I

S.L. said that, when he came to wake her up, Hesselgrave was not wearing any clothes but just his underwear. 4RP 314. Once they got into the bedroom, he then took off her clothes and his underwear. 4RP 314. According to S.L., he got onto the bed, picked her up and put her on his stomach and then, "put his penis in my vagina." 4RP 314-15. He did not move but just "left it there." 4RP 315.

At some point, S.L. said she was going to the bathroom. 4RP 315. He came in after she was done, she said, and put his penis into her butt while she was next to the sink, standing up. 4RP 315-16. S.L. said she had her feet on the floor and he was standing upright behind the then 6year old girl. 4RP 329-30. When he put his penis into her bottom he did not grab or touch anything first and did not spit or anything like that. 4RP 330. She said it went right in halfway at first and then all the way in. 4RP 330.

S.L. admitted she was shorter then and that Hesselgrave is an adult. 4RP 329. Although she said it really hurt, she said, she never cried or made a noise, although she said she felt like it. 4RP 331. Afterwards, there was nothing wet on her body or coming out of her body. 4RP 332.

At trial, S.L. testified he stopped and then took her back to the bed, having vaginal sex with her again with him on his back and her on his stomach. 4RP 317. This time, she said, he was going up and down. 4RP 317. She told him she was going to go get a drink and he said "no," after which S.L. said he "peed" in her mouth. 4RP 318. She was going to spit it out but he told her to drink it. 4RP 319. She said it tasted like a bar of soap but she was sure it was pee. 4RP 333.

After that, S.L. said, he took her back to the bed and "licked my vagina." 4RP 320. He then showed her some magazines of naked women and a video of a woman having sex with an elephant on the computer. 4RP 320.

At trial, S.L. said that, after showing her the porn, Hesselgrave woke up S.L.'s younger brother, J1, told him to come into the bedroom and then told the three- or four-year old boy "to do the same thing that Steve did to me." 4RP 320. S.L. said he had J1 pull down his pants and underwear and put his penis in S.L.'s mouth. 4RP 321. S.L. also said that Hesselgrave told her to "bite on" J1's penis, and to do so "hard," so she did. 4RP 321. S.L. said that J1 did not say anything or cry or anything and, after that, Hesselgrave told J1 to get dressed and go back to bed, and S.L. and Hesselgrave did the same. 4RP 321.

10

J1, who was 7 at trial, testified that, when S.L. visited or was there at the home, he never saw her naked on Hesselgrave's bed. 4RP 730-35. He was never told by his dad to "get naked" with S.L., was never naked with her on her dad's bed and was never naked with her while his dad was also naked. 4RP 730-35.

CPS worker Thomas, who conducted the initial "safety" interview of S.L., admitted that she specifically asked S.L. at the end of the session if there was anything else important that had happened, other than what S.L. had just disclosed, but S.L. said nothing about anything occurring with J1. 4RP 687. Thomas and S.L. had, in fact, talked about J1 at some points during the interview. 4RP 687. The disclosure of J1 being involved had occurred after the trial proceedings began. <u>See</u> 2RP 131.

In addition to what she said occurred, S.L.'s memory of when it occurred changed, too. First, she told police and forensic investigators that it happened when she was living with Hesselgrave at his home. 4RP 335. At trial, however, S.L. maintained that the incident had not occurred when she lived with him but instead after that, one night when she visited him because her mom was at a bachelorette party. 4RP 325. Indeed, she was "sure" that it was the night of the party. 4RP 326, 329, 335.

S.L. did not know why she told the forensic interviewer that it was while she and the boys, J1 and J2, lived with Hesselgrave but thought it might be that she "made a mistake." 4RP 335. She explained, "I was only six at that interview, I think." 4RP 335. Then she said, "[i]t might have been six or it might have been eight." 4RP 335.

According to S.L.'s mother, Leona Ling, S.L. lived with

Hesselgrave for about 9 months, from about the end of December 2008 or in January 2009 to about August or September of that same year. 4RP 374-75. At the time, Ling was living at a motel, and she asked Hesselgrave to take all of the kids because she had financial problems and could not really take care of them. 4RP 376, 390. Ling and Hesselgrave were not yet divorced but Ling was already seeing Chris Ling, the man she would later marry after the divorce from Hesselgrave was final. 4RP 398.

When S.L. returned to living with Ling and Chris¹ in about September of 2009, they lived in various places including transitional housing and ultimately ended up at the Best Knights Inn motel in 2010, which is where events unfolded with Palfrey. 4RP 377.

Ling said in October of 2010, S.L. stayed with Hesselgrave for one night while Ling was at a bachelorette party. 4RP 382. S.L. had asked to spend the night at Hesselgrave's while her mom was out. 4RP 382, 415. When she picked S.L. up the next morning, Ling admitted, S.L.'s demeanor was "fine." 4RP 415-16. S.L. seemed happy and healthy and had no complaints. 4RP 415-16. Indeed, Ling admitted, S.L. told her mom that "she had a blast" at her stepdad's house. 4RP 416.

S.L. did not complain of any aches or pains within the next week or two of that night. 4RP 416. Ling said her daughter acted, moved and played "fine" and said nothing about physical pain when walking, sitting or anything similar. 4RP 419.

Ling conceded that this was true not only after the bachelorette

¹Because they share a last name, for clarity Leona Ling will be referred to as "Ling" and Chris Ling will be referred to as "Chris," with no disrespect intended.

party but also when S.L. lived with Hesselgrave. 4RP 410. During the eight months she was living with Hesselgrave, Ling conceded, S.L. never went to the hospital. 4RP 417. S.L. never complained about anything relating to Hesselgrave during that time. 4RP 417. Instead, S.L. seemed happy and did not ever seem mad, angry or fearful. 4RP 417.

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