A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR

Whether the trial court properly excluded testimony
concerning prior statements of the victim which were not

inconsistent with her trial testimony and properly excluded
documentary evidence which was impermissibly
prejudicial, and thus, in so doing, did not violate
Defendant' s rights to present testimony or confront and
cross - examine witnesses. 

2. Whether Defendant failed to show ineffective assistance of

counsel where he failed to show that his trial counsel' s

performance was deficient. 

3. Whether the trial court properly found S. L. competent to
testify and properly admitted her statements to others

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

lack of knowledge; 

8. The possibility of the declarant' s faulty recollection
is remote; and

9. The circumstances surrounding the statement are
such that there is no reason to suppose the declarant

misrepresented the defendant' s involvement. 

Ryan, 103 Wn.2d at 175 -76 ( adopting the first five factors from State v. 

Parris, 98 Wn.2d 140, 654 P. 2d 77 ( 1982) and the last four factors from

Dutton v. Evans, 400 U. S. 74, 27 L.Ed.2d 213, 91 S. Ct. 210 ( 1970)). 

Hence, under RCW 9A.44. 120( 2), " corroborative evidence of the

act" is only necessary to the admissibility of a child' s statements if the

child "[ i] s unavailable as a witness." Where the court finds " that the time, 

content, and circumstances of the statement[ s] provide sufficient indicia of

reliability" and the child.... [ t] estifies at the proceedings," the statements
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are properly admissible at trial regardless of whether there is any

corroborative evidence of the act." RCW 9A.44. 120( 2). 

In this case, as described above, the court properly found S. L. 

competent to testify, CP 251 - 52, and found her statements to be reliable, 

CP 253 -54. Moreover, S. L. did, in fact, testify at trial. Therefore, under

RCW 9A.44. 120( 2), her statements were properly admissible at trial

regardless of whether there was any " corroborative evidence of the act." 

RCW 9A.44. 120( 2). 

As a result, the defendant' s argument " that there was insufficient

corroboration to support entry of her hearsay statements," BOA, p. 44, is

irrelevant to the admissibility of those statements. 

Because the court properly found S. L. competent to testify, CP

251 -52, found her statements to be reliable, CP 253 -54, and, S. L. in fact

testified at trial, the court properly admitted her statements. 

Therefore, the defendant' s conviction should be affirmed. 

4. THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN

OF SHOWING PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT BY

FAILING TO SHOW EITHER IMPROPER CONDUCT

OR PREJUDICE. 

Without a proper timely objection at trial, a defendant cannot raise

the issue of prosecutorial misconduct on appeal unless the misconduct was

so flagrant and ill- intentioned that no curative jury instruction could have
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corrected the possible prejudice." State v. Curtiss, 161 Wn. App. 673, 250

P. 3d 496 ( 2011); State v. Larios- Lopez, 156 Wn. App. 257, 260, 233 P. 3d

899 ( 2010) ( citing State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 841, 147 P. 3d 1201

2006) ( quoting State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 719, 940 P. 2d 1239

1997), cert. denied, 523 U. S. 1008, 118 S. Ct. 1193, 140 L. Ed. 2d 323

1998)). This is because the absence of an objection " strongly suggests to

a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically

prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial." State v. Swan, 114

Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P. 2d 610 ( 1990) ( emphasis in original). 

Even where there was a proper objection, an appellant claiming

prosecutorial misconduct " bears the burden of establishing the impropriety

of the prosecuting attorney' s comments and their prejudicial effect." State

v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 427, 220 P. 3d 1273 ( 2009); State v. 

Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 746 -47, 202 P. 3d 937 ( 2009); State v. McKenzie, 

157 Wn.2d 44, 134 P. 3d 221 ( 2006) ( quoting State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d

529, 561, 940 P. 2d 546 ( 1997); Beck v. Washington, 369 U. S. 541, 557, 

82 S. Ct. 955, 8 L. Ed. 2d 834 ( 1962). 

Hence, a reviewing court must first evaluate whether the

prosecutor' s comments were improper. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. at 427. 

The State is generally afforded wide latitude in making arguments to the

jury and prosecutors are allowed to draw reasonable inferences from the

evidence." Anderson, 153 Wn. App. at 427 -28, 220 P. 3d 1273. It is not

misconduct for a prosecutor to argue that the evidence does not support a
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defense theory, State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 87, 882 P. 2d 747 ( 1994) 

citing State v. Graham, 59 Wn. App. 418, 429, 798 P. 2d 314 ( 1990), 

State v. Contreras, 57 Wn. App. 471, 476, 788 P. 2d 1114, review denied, 

115 Wn.2d 1014, 797 P. 2d 514 ( 1990)), and " the prosecutor, as an

advocate, is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense

counsel." Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 87. Moreover, "[ r] emarks of the

prosecutor, even if they are improper, are not grounds for reversal if they

were invited or provoked by defense counsel and are in reply to his or her

acts and statements, unless the remarks are not a pertinent reply or are so

prejudicial that a curative instruction would be ineffective." Id. at 86. 

A prosecutor' s improper comments are prejudicial ` only where

there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury' s

verdict. "" State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 774, 168 P. 3d 359 ( 2007) 

quoting Brown, 132 Wn.2d at 561, 940 P. 2d 546; Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at

747. " A reviewing court does not assess `[ t] he prejudicial effect of a

prosecutor' s improper comments... by looking at the comments in

isolation but by placing the remarks ` in the context of the total argument, 

the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the

instructions given to the jury. "" Id. (quoting Brown, 132 Wn.2d at 561; 

State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 683, 243 P. 3d 936 ( 2010). 

R] emarks must be read in context." State v. Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. 

463, 479, 972 P. 2d 557 ( 1999); Larios- Lopez, 156 Wn. App. at 261. 
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Prosecutorial misconduct may be neutralized by a curative jury

instruction, Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P. 2d 747 ( 1994), and juries

are presumed to follow the court' s instructions. State v. Weber, 99 Wn.2d

158, 166, 659 P. 2d 1102 ( 1983). 

In the present case, the defendant argues that the deputy prosecutor

presented an improper " false choice" in closing argument, by contending

that, in order to acquit the defendant, the jury must find that " someone

coached S. L." or that " she made it up on her own." BOA, p. 44 -52. The

record demonstrates otherwise. 

I] t is misconduct for a prosecutor to argue that in order to acquit

a defendant, the jury must find that the State' s witnesses are either lying or

mistaken," State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213, 921 P. 2d 1076

1996), review denied, 131 Wn.2d 1018, 936 P. 2d 417 ( 1997) ( emphasis

added). See State v. Lewis, 156 Wn. App. 230, 241, 233 P. 3d 891 ( 2010); 

State v. Miles, 139 Wn. App. 879, 162 P. 3d 1169 ( 2007). Such an

argument " misstate[ s] the law and misrepresent[ s] both the role of the jury

and the burden of proof ' becausebecause "[ t] he jury would not have had to find

that [ the State' s witness] was mistaken or lying in order to acquit; instead, 

it was required to acquit unless it had an abiding conviction in the truth of

her testimony." Fleming, 83 Wn. App. at 213. 
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However, "[ i] n closing argument, a prosecutor is afforded wide

latitude in drawing and expressing reasonable inferences from the

evidence, including commenting on the credibility of witnesses and

arguing inferences about credibility based on evidence in the record." 

State v. Millante, 80 Wn. App. 237, 250 -51, 908 P. 2d 374 ( 1995). 

Here, the deputy prosecutor made the following remarks during

closing argument: 

All right. So here' s what it really comes down to in
this case. There' s three possibilities for what happened: 

Someone coached S[. L.]; S[. L.] made it up on her own, or
she is telling the truth. That' s it. 

Defense Attorney]: Objection. That' s improper

argument. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

RP 938 ( emphasis added). The prosecutor also projected a PowerPoint

slide listing these three possibilities, see Exhibit 25, before discussing each

in turn and ultimately arguing that the evidence supported the conclusion

that S. L. was telling the truth in her accusation of sexual intercourse. RP

938 -47; Exhibit 25. 

However, the prosecutor here, unlike that in Fleming, never argued

that the jury had to find anything " in order to acquit [ the] defendant." 

State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213, See RP 923 -48, 973 -79. 

In fact, just prior to the challenged comments quoted above, he told

the jury that it was the State which must prove the elements of the charged
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crime beyond a reasonable doubt, see RP 925 -26, 927 -29, and he

concluded his closing by reminding the jury of this burden of proof and

exhorting it to " evaluate the evidence, and follow the law." RP 947 -48. 

The challenged comments themselves were made as part of an

extended discussion of the concept of witness credibility. See RP 929 -46. 

In this context, when the deputy prosecutor referred to " what it really

comes down to in this case," the " it" to which he was referring was the

victim' s credibility, not the defendant' s guilt. The prosecutor reminded the

jurors that they were " the sole judges of credibility," RP 943, and argued

that S. L. was credible. RP 945 -46; Exhibit 25. 

Never did the prosecutor here, like that in Fleming, state or imply

that, in order to acquit the defendant, the jury must find that the victim was

coached or otherwise " making up" her version of events. See RP 923 -48, 

973 -79. Never did the prosecutor here tell the jury that it must find

anything to find the defendant not guilty. See RP 923 -48, 973 -79. 

Instead, he repeatedly told the jury that the State bore the burden of

proving the elements of the charged crime, and that the jury had a duty to

evaluate the evidence and follow the law. RP 947 -48. 

Thus, the prosecutor here did not present an improper " false

choice." He simply argued that the evidence showed that S. L.' s testimony

was credible. Because a prosecutor may " argu[ e] inferences about
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credibility based on evidence in the record," Millante, 80 Wn. App. at

250 -51, the prosecutor' s argument here was proper, and the defendant' s

conviction should be affirmed. 

The defendant also seems to argue that the following statements in

the prosecutor' s rebuttal argument created an improper false choice: 

So go back to that jury room. Review the evidence, 
and, remember how she [ i. e., S. L.] was on the stand when

she described it and ask yourself, is that ten -year -old girl

pulling the wool over my eyes or is that a ten - year -old girl
describing something no ten - year -old girl should ever have
to? Find him guilty. 

RP 978 -79. See BOA, p. 50 -51. 

Here, the prosecutor simply asked the jury to "[ r] eview the

evidence" in the record, and using that evidence, to evaluate the credibility

of S. L. " on the stand." RP 978. While he did ask the jury to find the

defendant guilty, he never told the jury that it had to find anything to find

him not guilty. Thus, the prosecutor never presented the jury with an

improper false choice. 

Rather, he seems to have urged the jury to return a verdict of guilty

based on the evidence in the record and the credibility of S. L. which that

evidence established. Given that a prosecutor may " argu[ e] inferences

about credibility based on evidence in the record," Millante, 80 Wn. App. 
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at 250 -51, the prosecutor' s argument here was proper, and the defendant' s

conviction should be affirmed. 

Even were it assumed arguendo that the prosecutor' s argument in

closing or rebuttal was improper, the defendant has not shown prejudice. 

Even had the deputy prosecutor somehow implied that the jury

must find something to find the defendant not guilty, he explicitly told the

jury the opposite. In his closing argument, before making the challenged

comments, he referred the jury to the court' s " to- convict" instruction, 

calling it " the road map instruction." RP 925 -26. That instruction

specifically told the jury that each of the elements of the charged crime

must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt" in order to find the defendant

guilty, and that " if, after weighing all the evidence, you have a reasonable

doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a

verdict of not guilty." CP 203 - 19 ( instruction no. 6) ( emphasis added). 

After the challenged comments in his closing argument, the deputy

prosecutor again reminded the jury of the burden of proof beyond a

reasonable doubt by drawing the jury' s attention to the court' s instruction

defining reasonable doubt. RP 946. See CP 203 -19 ( instruction no. 2). 

The deputy prosecutor then concluded his closing argument by

arguing to the jury that it should convict the defendant only if it found that

the State had proven the charge beyond a reasonable doubt: 
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As I said, the jury has faced this burden every day, 
beyond a reasonable doubt. It' s a high burden, but jurors

face it every day. You have a duty, a responsibility, to
evaluate this ease, evaluate the evidence, andfollow the

law. Make sure that you evaluate it, but ifyoufind that
the State has proved its ease beyond a reasonable doubt, 

your job is to return a verdict ofguilty. 

RP 947 -48 ( emphasis added). 

Thus, the deputy prosecutor explicitly told the jury that the State

bore the burden of proving the elements of the charged crime beyond a

reasonable doubt, that it had a duty to " evaluate the evidence, and follow

the law," and asked the jury to return a verdict of guilty only if it " f[ou] nd

that the State has proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt." RP 947 -48. 

The court also instructed the jury that it had a duty to acquit if the jury had

a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements," and properly defined

reasonable doubt" for the jury. CP 203 -19 ( instruction no. 6, 2). 

Hence, even were the challenged comments to be construed as an

implied argument that the jury must find something to find the defendant

not guilty, the jury was explicitly told just the opposite by the prosecutor, 

RP 925 -26, 946 -48, the court, RP 921 -22, CP 203 - 19, and the defense

attorney. RP 948, 966. 
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In this context, there can be no " substantial likelihood" that any

misconduct affected the jury' s verdict," Yates, 161 Wn.2d at 774, and

thus, any such misconduct cannot be considered prejudicial. 

As a result, the defendant has failed to meet his burden of showing

prosecutorial misconduct by failing to show either improper conduct or

prejudice. 

Therefore, his conviction should be affirmed. 

THE COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED THE

CONDITIONS OF COMMUNITY CUSTODY WITH

THE EXCEPTION OF THE WORDS " FROM A

LICENSED PHYSICIAN" IN CONDITION 13 OF

APPENDIX H, BECAUSE THE REMAINING

PORTIONS OF CONDITION 13 AND THE

REMAINING CONDITIONS WERE STATUTORILY

AUTHORIZED AND CONSTITUTIONAL. 

For a community custody condition to be proper, it " must be

authorized by the legislature because it is solely the legislature' s province

to fix legal punishments." State v. Ko[esnik, 146 Wn. App. 790, 192 P. 3d

937 ( 2008). 

When a court sentences a person to a term of community custody, 

it must impose the mandatory conditions listed in RCW 9. 94A.703( 1), 

and, unless waived by the court, the conditions listed in RCW

9.94A.703( 2). The court may also impose certain discretionary

conditions, RCW 9. 94A.703( 3), including ordering the offender to

p] articipate in crime - related treatment or counseling services," and to

70- Hesselgraveldoc



c] omply with any crime - related prohibitions." RCW 9. 94A.703( 3)( c) & 

0• 

Imposing conditions of community custody is within the

discretion of the sentencing court and will be reversed if manifestly

unreasonable." State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 753, 193 P. 3d 678 ( 2008); 

State v. C.D.C., 145 Wn. App. 621, 625, 186 P. 3d 1166 ( 2008). 

Imposition of an unconstitutional condition would... be manifestly

unreasonable." Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 753. Likewise, a sentencing court

abuses its discretion when it exceeds its sentencing authority. C.D.C., 145

Wn. App. at 625. When a sentencing court imposes an unauthorized

condition of community custody, appellate courts remedy the error by

remanding the matter with instructions to strike the unauthorized

condition. State v. O' Cain, 144 Wn. App. 772, 775, 184 P. 3d 1262 ( 2008). 

In the present case, the court imposed conditions of community

custody, including conditions 13, 16, and 25 of appendix H, CP 225 -41, 

242 -44, which are now challenged by the defendant " not statutorily

authorized or... unconstitutional." Brief of Appellant, p. 53 -59. 

Although the defendant did not object to these conditions during

his sentencing hearing, 11/ 09/ 12 RP 9 -10, this does not necessarily
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preclude his challenge here. See. e.g., State v. Jones, 118 Wn. App. 199, 

204, 76 P. 3d 258 ( 2003) ( a sentence imposed without statutory authority

may be raised for the first time on appeal). 

Condition 13 provides that the defendant " shall not possess or

consume any controlled substances without a valid prescriptionfrom a

licensed ph_ysician." CP 243. 

RCW 9. 94A.703( 2)( c) provides that "[ u] nless waived by the court,

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